THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

JUN 29 2016

SC Court of Appeals

G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2015-000263

Oak Pointe Homeowners' Association, Inc.,.....Respondent,

v.

Mackenzie E. Peffley,..... Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Andrew S. Radeker
S.C. Bar No. 73743
Harrison & Radeker, P.A.
Post Office Box 50143
Columbia, South Carolina 29250
(803) 779-2211
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Did the lower court err in granting the Respondent summary judgment on the Appellant's negligent misrepresentation claim, where the Respondent told the Appellant something false and the Appellant relied on that false statement to her detriment?
- II. Where the Respondent, a property owners' association, has not been empowered by the government to fine its members, and the lower court did not determine as a matter of law that it can, did the lower court err in granting summary judgment to the Respondent on the basis of covenant language purporting to permit the Respondent to impose fines?
- III. Where the record showed the Respondent breached its covenants with the Appellant, did the lower court err in granting the Respondent's summary judgment motion as to the Appellant's claims for breach of contract and breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent act?
- IV. Where there was a scintilla of evidence and more that the Respondent slandered the Appellant's title by recording in the land records a document it knew to contain false information, did the lower court err in granting the Respondent's summary judgment motion on the Appellant's slander of title claim?
- V. Where the Respondent has set itself up to systematically purport to fine its members, was it error for the lower court to grant summary judgment on the Appellant's Unfair Trade Practices Act claim?
- VI. Was it error for the lower court to grant summary judgment on the Appellant's libel claim, where that ruling was based on an erroneous, straitened reading of the Appellant's pleading at odds with the Rules of Civil Procedure?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Respondent (hereinafter “the Association”), a private homeowners’ association, brought an action seeking foreclosure as to the Appellant (hereinafter “Peffley”)’s property involved in this case for a claimed lien that appears to consist largely of what the Association terms “assessments for non-compliance” with restrictive covenants, plus attorney’s fees and costs. (R. pp. 11-21, p. 62 ln. 1-11, pp. 110-12.) Peffley answered, denying liability and asserting various counterclaims: 1) for a declaratory judgment that, since the Association is not a governmental entity, it has no power to levy fines (the “assessments for non-compliance”), 2) for violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-10, *et seq.* (the UTPA), 3) for breach of contract, 4) for breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent act, 5) for slander of title, 6) for libel, 7) for negligent misrepresentation, 8) for an accounting, and 9) for violation of violation of the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act, 50 U.S.C. Appx. § 501, *et seq.* (the SCRA). (R. pp. 22-31.) The Association served a reply, denying liability on the counterclaims. (R. pp. 32-38.)

The Association later moved for summary judgment. (R. pp. 39-41.) The Association did not serve its motion, which simply states that it seeks summary judgment, with any affidavits. (R. pp. 39-41.) It later served two affidavits, one of Steffhanie Laurel, the association’s former president, and one of Mary Kadar, an employee of MJS, the association’s management company. (R. pp. 106-48.) Peffley served her own affidavit. (R. pp. 87-103.) Both parties submitted memoranda with regard to the motion. (R. p. 64 ln. 13-14, p. 66 ln. 18-21, p. 78 ln. 3-15, pp. 149-62.)

At the hearing on the motion, the Association clarified that it sought summary judgment on the entire case, on its claim for foreclosure as well as on Peffley's counterclaims. (R. p. 63 ln. 20-24.) The circuit court issued an order that granted summary judgment to the Association on Peffley's counterclaims for negligent misrepresentation, violation of the UTPA, breach of contract, breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent act, libel, and slander of title. (R. p. 9.) The circuit court denied summary judgment on the Association's claim for lien foreclosure, Peffley's claim for a declaratory judgment that the Association has no power to levy fines, Peffley's claim for an accounting, and Peffley's claim for violation of the SCRA.

Peffley moved for reconsideration, clarification, and amendment of the order insofar as it granted the Association summary judgment. (R. pp. 42-54.) The circuit court denied that motion, and this appeal followed. (R. p. 10.)

This appeal seeks remand for trial of the counterclaims on which the lower court granted summary judgment. The other claims were tried before the Honorable Thomas Russo, who has not yet ruled on them.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Peffley, a member of the Army National Guard, purchased the subject property in 2007, following the completion of an Army aviation flight training course and before her next active duty assignment. (R. p. 87.) The property is subject to restrictive covenants. (R. p. 58 ln. 19 through p. 59 ln. 13, pp. 113-47.) The Association is a corporation that acts as a homeowners' association for the subdivision where the property is located. (R. p. 88.) It is not a part of any state, federal, county, or municipal government. (R. p. 88.)

In 2010, the Association purported to fine Peffley (i.e., levy an “assessment for non-compliance”) for placing a sign in her yard without the Association’s prior authorization. (R. p. 88.) Peffley requested that the fine be rescinded, but she paid the bill of \$490.00 the Association claimed to be owed (including the fine) in full on March 14, 2011. (R. p. 88.) The Association “removed” the fine, and the Association’s president emailed Peffley to tell her that she would be reimbursed for her overpayment. (R. pp. 88, 97-98.)

She was not reimbursed. (R. pp. 88, 110-12.) Instead, the Association hired a law firm to record a notice of lien, which it did, on the subject property, in which the Association claimed to be owed the fine and associated fees. (R. pp. 14-15, 99, 104-05, 111.) This notice of lien was recorded after Peffley had already paid the \$490.00. (R. p. 14, p. 79 ln. 8-9, pp. 88, 111.) It was also recorded after Peffley had emailed the Association’s president and told her that she had overpaid the Association because of the removal of the fine, and it was recorded after the Association’s president told Peffley she would be reimbursed for her overpayment. (R. p. 14, p. 79 ln. 8-21, p. 83 ln. 22 through p. 84 ln. 2, pp. 88, 97, 104-05, 111.) The Association charged Peffley \$375.00 for attorney’s fees for recording the notice of lien, though it did not send Peffley notice that it was assessing her a charge for attorney’s fees. (R. p. 78 ln. 22 through p. 79 ln. 3, p. 79 ln. 8-25, p. 83 ln. 15-18, pp. 88-89, 99, 110-12.) The affidavits submitted by the Association indicate that the Association provided Peffley notice that the Association *would* hire a law firm to take collection action if the Association did not pay the full balance the Association claimed to be owed within 10 days, which passed without payment; however, nothing in the record indicates that the Association *did*

inform Peffley that it had hired an attorney, recorded the notice of lien, or incurred charges for doing so. (R. p. 78 ln. 22 through p. 79 ln. 3, p. 79 ln. 22-25, p. 83 ln. 22 through p. 84 ln. 2, pp. 88-89, 106, 110-12.) Indeed, the Association never made any statement to change its president's statement that Peffley would be reimbursed the money she had overpaid. (R. pp. 88-89, 106, 110-12.)

Per the Kadar affidavit, in the summer of 2011, the Association purported to assess three more fines against Peffley, totaling \$395.00, "for the condition of her mailbox." (R. p. 111.) The record contains nothing indicating that Peffley was provided any notice of these purported fines, and Peffley's affidavit states that she received no notice of them. (R. p. 78 ln. 22 through p. 79 ln. 3, pp. 88, 106, 110-12.) Neither the Kadar affidavit nor the Laurel affidavit ever mention any notice of these fines being provided to Peffley.

Peffley timely paid her annual assessment to the Association for 2012. (R. p. 111.) In the absence of the attorney's fee and 2011 fines, this would have satisfied Peffley's annual assessment obligations through the 2013 assessment, the year in which this case was brought. (R. p. 14, p. 83 ln. 8-9, p. 111.)

As Peffley's affidavit states, consistently with what the Association's president told her and in light of the overpayment, Peffley believed that she had fully satisfied her payment obligations to the Association. (R. p. 88.) After taking no action for years, even to notify Peffley of other fines, the Association sued her in 2013. (R. pp. 11-21, 88-89, 110-12.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, this court applies the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC. Fleming v. Rose, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002). That standard is that “summary judgment may be rendered only when the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Additionally, it must be shown that further inquiry into the facts of the case is not desirable to clarify the application of the law.” Folkens v. Hunt, 290 S.C. 194, 196, 348 S.E.2d 839, 841 (Ct. App. 1986).

“All ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the moving party. Even when there is no dispute as to the evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied.” Nelson v. Charleston County Parks & Recreation Comm., 362 S.C. 1, 605 S.E.2d 744 (Ct. App. 2004). If “the parties vehemently dispute the inferences and conclusions to be drawn from the undisputed facts, . . . that simply establishes that summary judgment is not appropriate[.]” Montgomery v. CSX Transp., Inc., 656 S.E.2d 20, 29 (S.C. 2008).

“When determining if any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Moreover, since it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment should be cautiously invoked so that a litigant will not be improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual

issues.” Englert, Inc. v. LeafGuard USA, Inc., 377 S.C. 129, 133-34, 659 S.E.2d 496, 498 (2008).

In 2009, the South Carolina Supreme Court clarified earlier confusion about whether a scintilla of evidence is sufficient to defeat summary judgment. Hancock v. Mid-South Management Co., Inc., 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 802-3 (2009). In Hancock, the Court held that “in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” Id. More than a scintilla is required only in cases requiring heightened burdens of proof or applying federal law. Id. Accordingly, when the ordinary burden of proof is applicable, only a scintilla of evidence is required to withstand summary judgment. Id.

ARGUMENT

I. The court erred in granting the Association summary judgment on Peffley’s negligent misrepresentation claim, where the Association told her something false and she relied on that false statement to her detriment.

The circuit court granted summary judgment as to Peffley’s negligent misrepresentation counterclaim. (R. pp. 4-5, 9.) It appears that the court granted summary judgment on this claim because the covenant documents say that the Association can fine property owners in the subdivision for violating the covenants, or perhaps because of some perceived lack of specificity in what Peffley was claiming was falsely represented to her. (R. pp. 1-5.) Respectfully, Peffley notes that the lower court misapprehended her argument on this claim, the facts of this case, or both. (R. p. 43.) In any event, the lower court’s decision on this cause of action was reversible error. Even if the covenants did permit the Association to fine its members, that would have

nothing to do with whether the Association was liable to Peffley for negligent misrepresentation. Peffley was always quite clear in maintaining that the Association, through its then-president, had falsely represented to her that she had not just paid up in full but had overpaid her obligations to the Association and was entitled to reimbursement; thus, this was an express misrepresentation coupled with the Association's tacit misrepresentation by failing ever to correct this misrepresentation. (R. p. 79 ln. 8-25, p. 81 ln. 5-18, p. 83 ln. 11-19, pp. 88-89.) The record contained a scintilla of evidence (and more) of facts supporting each element of the negligent misrepresentation claim, and the lower court's reasoning is flawed on this claim.

"Negligent misrepresentation has been described as an 'emerging and developing field of law.'" Michael G. Sullivan & Douglas S. MacGregor, Elements of Civil Causes of Action 288 (3rd ed. 2006) (quoting Gruber v. Santee Frozen Foods, Inc., 309 S.C. 13, 419 S.E.2d 795 (Ct. App. 1992)). It is an action in negligence (thus, not one with a heightened burden of proof). Id. Accordingly, the standard of review this court applies is that set out in Hancock, i.e., whether there is even a scintilla of evidence to support the claim. 381 S.C. at 330.

Negligent misrepresentation has the following elements:

- 1) a false representation by a party;
- 2) that party's pecuniary interest in making the statement;
- 3) that party owed a duty of care to see that he communicated truthful information to the other party;
- 4) the representing party breached the duty by failing to exercise due care;
- 5) the claimant party justifiably relied upon the representation; and

6) the claimant suffered damage as the proximate result of his reliance upon the representation.

Bishop Logging Co. v. John Deere Equip. Co. 317 S.C. 502, 528 n. 6, 455 S.E.2d 183 (Ct. App. 1995).

The negligent misrepresentation claim in this case has nothing to do with what the covenant documents purport to authorize the Association to do. (R. p. 44.) It has to do with the Association representing to Peffley that any debt she owed to the Association had been fully paid. (R. p. 44, p. 79 ln. 8-25, p. 81 ln. 5-18, p. 83 ln. 11-19, p. 88.)

Peffley requested of the Association's president that a 2010 fine (i.e., an "assessment for non-compliance") be rescinded, but she paid the bill of \$490.00 the Association claimed to be owed (including the fine) in full on March 14, 2011. (R. p. 88.) The Association "removed" the fine, and *the Association's president emailed Peffley to tell her that she would be reimbursed for her overpayment.* (R. pp. 88, 97-98.)

Not only was Peffley not reimbursed, it was not until 2013, in connection with bringing this lawsuit, that the Association ever made any statement to change its president's statement that Peffley would be reimbursed the money she had overpaid. (R. p. 78 ln. 22 through p. 79 ln. 3, p. 79 ln. 22-25, p. 83 ln. 22 through p. 84 ln. 2, pp. 88-89, 106, 110-12.) Never during that time did the Association tell her that it had incurred attorney's fees it was charging to her, nor did the Association tell her that it had assessed any fines (i.e. "assessments for noncompliance"), such that she owed any money to the Association other than yearly assessments, which she had paid more than

a year ahead by paying the \$490.00. (R. p. 78 ln. 22 through p. 79 ln. 3, p. 79 ln. 22-25, p. 83 ln. 22 through p. 84 ln. 2, pp. 88-89, 106, 110-12.)

At times, nondisclosure may serve as the “representation” underlying fraud. This typically occurs in one of three ways:

1) If a party chooses to speak, he must disclose enough of what he knows to prevent his words from being misleading. In situations where a party has made an incomplete or ambiguous statement or half-truth that he knew was misleading, he is then under a duty to clarify and to disclose the whole truth.

2) If there is a confidential or fiduciary relationship, there is a duty of full disclosure.

3) A party may be held to a higher standard if he has a special knowledge not available to the other party. A duty to disclose can arise when one party has superior knowledge of certain information and that information is not readily available to the other party and the first party knows or has reason to believe that the second party is acting on the basis of the mistaken knowledge.

Little v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 243 F. Supp. 2d 480, 507 (D.S.C. 2001)

(“[o]ne may deceive, though he says nothing which is itself untrue”, as “[t]he telling of but part of the truth may sometimes effectually mislead”); Manning v. Dial, 271 S.C.

79, 245 S.E.2d 120 (1978) (defendant stood in fiduciary relationship to plaintiff, and as such he had a duty to disclose all relevant facts when purchasing plaintiff’s stock);

Jacobson v. Yaschik, 249 S.C. 577, 155 S.E.2d 601 (1967) (nondisclosure becomes

fraudulent when it is the duty of the party having knowledge of the facts to uncover them to the other); Anthony v. Padmar, Inc., 320 S.C. 436, 465 S.E.2d 745 (Ct. App. 1995)(parties in fiduciary relationship must fully disclose to each other all known information that is significant and material, and when this duty to disclose is triggered, silence may constitute fraud).

“Nondisclosure is fraudulent” – not to mention merely *negligent* – “when there is a duty to speak.” Ardis v. Cox, 314 S.C. 512, 517, 431 S.E.2d 267, 270 (Ct. App. 1993). A South Carolina case, Anchor Point, Inc. v. Shoals of Anderson, Inc., 309 S.C. 486, 424 S.E.2d 521 (Ct. App. 1992), has recognized that a fiduciary relation exists between a homeowners association and its members, and many cases in other jurisdictions have found a such fiduciary duty. E.g., Bd. of Managers of Weathersfield Condominium Ass’n. v. Schaumberg Ltd. Partnership, 717 N.E.2d 429 (Ill. App. 1999); Maercker Point Villa Condominium Ass’n. v. Szymiski, 655 N.E.2d 1192 (Ill. App. 1995); High Country Villas Management Corp. v. Sarnowsky, 14 Cal.Rptr. 62, 65 (Cal. App. 1992); Cohen v. Kite Hill Community Ass’n, 142 Cal.App.3d 642, 191 Cal.Rptr. 209, 214 (1983); Vernon Manor Co-op. Apts, Section I, Inc. v. Salatino, 15 Misc.2d 491, 178 N.Y.S.2d 895 (1958). This is consistent with general principles regarding the relationship between a corporation and its stockholders. See, e.g., Talbot v. James, 259 S.C. 73, 190 S.E.2d 759, 764 (1972). Consistently with this fiduciary relationship, the Association owed Peffley a duty to be truthful or at least to use due care in its representations to her. This is one of those situations in which the Association had a duty to speak to Peffley, at least when it is viewed in the light most favorable to her.

The Association had a pecuniary interest in making these representations. “Proof that the statement was made in the course of the defendant’s business, profession, or employment is sufficient to show he has a pecuniary interest in making it, although he receives no consideration for it.” AMA Management Corp. v. Strasburger, 309 S.C. 213, 223, 420 S.E.2d 868, 874 (Ct. App. 1992). Here, the Association made the representation that Peffley would be reimbursed – thus, agreeing with Peffley’s statement that she had paid the Association more than the Association was owed, not the other way around – in the course of its business of operating a homeowners’ association. (R. pp. 88, 97-98, 106, 110-12.) This element is satisfied.

Whether Peffley relied on the Association’s misrepresentations is a question of fact – not a question that may be decided at summary judgment. Viewed in the light most favorable to Peffley, the record shows that she did rely on these representations.

Peffley’s affidavit states the following:

I had been paying my dues to the association and had received nothing further about owing them any money, so I believed, consistently with Ms. Laurel’s communications with me, that I had fully satisfied all my payment obligations to the association. Accordingly, I did not inquire into whether the association claimed that I owed it any more money.

(R. p. 88.)

Further, the record shows at least a scintilla of evidence about whether she had a right to rely on them. Whether a party has the right to rely on a statement is ordinarily a fact question for the jury. See Armstrong v. Collins, 366 S.C. 204, 220, 621 S.E.2d 368 (Ct. App. 2005) (fact question concerning right to rely).

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