STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

JUN 14 2016

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY

SC Court of Appeals

Court of Common Pleas

Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-000263

Oak Pointe Homeowners' Association, Inc.,

Respondent,

v.

Mackenzie E. Peffley,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Stephanie C. Trotter  
McCabe Trotter & Beverly, PC  
Post Office Box 212069  
Columbia, South Carolina 29221  
(803) 724-5000  
Stephanie.Trotter@mccabetrotter.com

**ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The Trial Court Appropriately Granted Respondent’s Motion For Summary Judgment On Appellant’s Negligent Misrepresentation Claim Because There Was No Evidence Of A Misrepresentation, Respondent Had No Pecuniary Interest In The Communication At Issue, And Appellant Was Precluded From Asserting Justifiable Reliance.**

Appellant argues that Respondent “falsely represented to her that she . . . overpaid her obligations to the Association and was entitled to a reimbursement.” (Br. of App. p. 8.) However, Appellant’s argument is unpersuasive because it was her own misrepresentation to Respondent that caused Respondent to offer her a reimbursement.

In order to prevail on a claim for negligent misrepresentation, a party must prove “(1) the Appellant made a false representation to the Respondent; (2) the Appellant had a pecuniary interest in making the statement; (3) the Appellant owed a duty of care to see that he communicated truthful information to the Respondent; (4) the Appellant breached that duty by failing to exercise due care; (5) the Respondent justifiably relied on the representation; and (6) the Respondent suffered a pecuniary loss as the proximate result of his reliance upon the representation.” AMA Mgmt. Corp. v. Strasburger, 309 S.C. 213, 222, 420 S.E.2d 868, 874 (Ct. App. 1992).

**A. Summary Judgment Was Appropriate Because Respondent's Statement Was Merely A Future Promise Contingent On The Ultimate Veracity Of Appellant's Statement That She Had Paid Her Debt In Full.**

The Respondent's alleged misrepresentation must relate to a present or preexisting fact. In re Marine Energy Systems Corp., 362 B.R. 247 (D.S.C. Bankr. 2006). “[A]n actionable representation cannot consist of a mere broken promise, even if a party acts in reliance on the promise.” Winburn v. Ins. Co. of N. Am., 287 S.C. 435, 440, 339 S.E.2d 142, 145 (Ct. App. 1985). “The truth or falsity of a representation must be determined as of the time it was made or acted on and not at some later date.” Id., 287 S.C. at 440, 339 S.E.2d at 146. “A future promise is not fraudulent unless such promise was part of a general design or plan, existing at the time, to induce a party to enter into a contract or act as he or she otherwise would not have acted, to his or her injury.” Turner v. Milliman, 392 S.C. 116, 123, 708 S.E.2d 766, 770 (2011). “Evidence of mere nonperformance of a promise is not sufficient to establish either fraud or a lack of intent to perform.” Id., 392 S.C. at 124, 708 S.E.2d at 770 (quoting Woods v. State, 314 S.C. 501, 506, 431 S.E.2d 260, 263 (Ct.App.1993)).

Respondent argues that Laurel misrepresented that Appellant was paid in full and entitled to a reimbursement. However, Respondent never represented to Appellant that her account was paid in full. It was Appellant that misrepresented to Laurel that she had paid the full debt. Appellant stated to Laurel that Appellant had “paid [her] debt to the HOA in full [on March 14, 2011] so [she] should have a credit for next years (sic) fees.” (R. pp. 97-98.) Laurel never made any representation related to the Appellant's account balance. Laurel merely responded that Appellant would be reimbursed for any

overpayment. (R. pp. 97-98.) Laurel's statement amounts only to a promise to refund any overpayment to Appellant if, in fact, Appellant overpaid the balance owed after the June 2010 non-compliance fine was removed from her account. Appellant presented no evidence that Laurel did not intend to issue a reimbursement when she sent the March 14, 2011 email. Therefore, this future promise cannot be actionable as negligent misrepresentation unless there is some evidence Laurel used this promise to induce Appellant to enter into a contract or take some specific act. However, Appellant's affidavit contained no allegation explaining how Laurel used the reimbursement promise to induce Respondent to take some act. Rule 56, SCRPC requires the non-moving party to "set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial." Appellant failed to set forth any facts. Accordingly, the trial court appropriately found that Respondent was entitled to summary judgment against Appellant on her negligent misrepresentation claim.

**B. Respondent Did Not Have Any Pecuniary Interest In Stating That Appellant Would Be Reimbursed For Any Overpayment On Her Account.**

Appellant similarly fails to meet her burden of demonstrating Respondent had any pecuniary interest in making any purported misrepresentations. "For purposes of proving negligent misrepresentation, evidence that a statement was made in the course of the Appellant's business, profession, or employment is sufficient to prove the Appellant's pecuniary interest in making the statement, even if the Appellant received no consideration for it." Robertson v. First Union Nat. Bank, 350 S.C. 339, 349-50, 565 S.E.2d 309, 314-15 (Ct. App. 2002) (citing AMA Mgmt. Corp., 309 S.C. at 223, 420 S.E.2d at 874). However, "[n]ot every statement made in the course of commercial

dealings is actionable at law. A mere statement of opinion, commendation of goods or services, or expression of confidence that a bargain will be satisfactory does not give rise to liability in tort.” AMA Mgmt. Corp., 309 S.C. at 222, 420 S.E.2d at 874 .

Appellant presented no evidence that Respondent had any pecuniary interest in Laurel’s statement. It is clear from the totality of the evidence that Laurel’s statement that Appellant would receive a reimbursement was a merely a statement Appellant would receive a reimbursement of any overpayment made on her account. Neither Laurel nor Appellant received any pecuniary benefit by referring Appellant’s account to an attorney for legal action when her payment was not received by the final deadline on March 7, 2011. It was actually the opposite – Respondent incurred almost \$400 in legal fees because Appellant did not pay her balance timely. (R. p. 111.)

**C. Because Respondent’s President Did Not Possess Any Special Knowledge Regarding Appellant’s Account Balance At The Time She Stated Appellant Would Be Reimbursed, Respondent Owed No Duty Of Care To Appellant.**

Where a party “possesses expertise or special knowledge that would ordinarily make it reasonable for another to rely on his judgment or ability to make careful enquiry, the law places on him a duty of care with respect to representations made . . .” AMA Mgmt. Corp., 309 S.C. at 223, 420 S.E.2d at 874. Without demonstrating the speaker had such expertise or special knowledge, the claimant is not entitled to rely on those representations.

Appellant emailed Laurel at 9:58 PM and represented that she had paid her debt in full that day. (R. pp. 97-98.) Laurel responded nine minutes later and confirmed that any overpayment would be reimbursed. (R. pp. 97-98.) It is clear that Laurel's email was merely confirming the procedural mechanism by which any overpayment would be handled. There is no evidence that Laurel possessed any special knowledge with respect to Appellant's balance or payment that would impose upon her a duty of care with regard to her response. Certainly Laurel was not in possession of such information at 10:00 o'clock in the evening while having a casual email conversation with Appellant.

If Appellant had informed Laurel that she paid \$490.00 to the HOA and Laurel had responded that Appellant was accordingly entitled to a refund of some specific amount then perhaps Appellant would be entitled to argue that Laurel was in possession of specialized knowledge and had a duty to act with care in conveying that information to Appellant. However that is just not the case here. Appellant misrepresented to Laurel that she had "paid by debt to the HOA in full" and Laurel responded based on that misrepresentation. Appellant has failed to demonstrate that Laurel had a duty to confirm the accuracy of Appellant's misrepresentation before responding. Because she failed to demonstrate and Laurel had any duty of care to Appellant with respect to this statement, the trial court appropriate granted summary judgment.

**D. Because Appellant Knew Or Should Have Known That She Was Not Entitled To A Reimbursement, Appellant Was Unjustified In Relying On Laurel's Statement.**

"As part of [her] case [Appellant] must show that [her] reliance on the misrepresentation was reasonable. There is no liability for casual statements,

representations as to matters of law, or matters which [Appellant] could ascertain on [her] own in the exercise of due diligence.” AMA Mgmt. Corp., 309 S.C. at 223, 420 S.E.2d at 874 (Ct. App. 1992). “[W]hile issues of reliance are ordinarily resolved by the finder of fact, ‘there can be no reasonable reliance on a misstatement if the Respondent knows the truth of the matter.’” McLaughlin v. Williams, 379 S.C. 451, 457-58, 665 S.E.2d 667, 671 (Ct. App. 2008) (quoting Gruber v. Santee Frozen Foods, Inc., 309 S.C. 13, 20, 419 S.E.2d 795, 800 (Ct. App. 1992)). “Thus, if the undisputed evidence clearly shows the party asserting reliance has knowledge of the truth of the matter, there is no genuine issue of material fact.” Id.

Respondent sent Appellant a letter on February 25, 2011 warning that Respondent’s balance of \$490.00 had to be paid no later than March 7, 2011 to avoid legal action and additional costs. (R. p. 111.) Appellant admits that she did not remit payment to Respondent until March 14, 2011. (R. p. 88.) Respondent did not receive Appellant’s payment until March 16, 2011. (R. p. 111.) Appellant produced no evidence to refute this receipt date. Appellant knew or should have known that her payment was late and that additional charges had been added to her balance. Appellant provided no evidence that she made any attempt to confirm the current balance due before or after remitting payment. Accordingly, Appellant had no right to rely on Laurel’s statement that the “credit” Appellant claimed to have would be reimbursed to her.

**II. The Trial Court Correctly Granted Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment on Appellant’s Counterclaims for Breach of Contract and Breach of Contract with Fraudulent Intent Because Appellant Failed to Present Any Evidence that Respondent Charged Interest in Contravention of the Provisions of the Declaration.**

**A. Because The Declaration Clearly Established A Due Date For All Charges Levied, Respondent's Interest Charges Were Calculated In Accordance With The Contract Between The Parties.**

The trial court correctly granted Respondent's motion for summary judgment on Appellant's breach of contract claim because Respondent charged interest as required by the contract.

Appellant's original counterclaims for breach of contract and breach of contract with fraudulent intent alleged that Respondent promised to remove a fine on Appellant's account and Respondent subsequently failed to honor that promise. It was only at the summary judgment hearing that Appellant changed her argument to allege that Appellant breached a completely different contract, the Declaration, by charging interest on assessments of which Appellant was not notified of the due date. The record is clear that Respondent agreed to waive the June 2010 non-compliance assessment and did waive said assessment on May 6, 2011. (R. p. 111.) Appellant presented no evidence to refute that the June 2010 non-compliance was waived. Instead, Appellant argues she produced sufficient evidence to survive summary judgment because Respondent failed to present evidence that showed the "due date" on each assessment for the purposes of calculating interest pursuant to Art. IX, Section 1 of the Declaration. Appellant's argument is without basis.

To bring an action for breach of contract the claimant has the burden "to prove the contract, its breach, and the damages caused by the breach." Fuller v. Eastern Fire & Cas. Ins. Co., 240 S.C. 75, 89, 124 S.E.2d 602, 610 (1962). "The necessary elements of a contract are offer, acceptance and valuable consideration." Roberts v. Gaskins, 327 S.C. 478, 484, 486 S.E.2d 771, 773 (Ct. App. 1997). "[B]efore a party can recover for the

breach of a contract, he must allege and prove by competent, relevant testimony each one of the material elements of the contract sued on.” Rabon v. State Finance Corp., 203 S.C. 183, 26 S.E.2d 501, 502 (1943).

“The cardinal rule of contract interpretation is to ascertain and give legal effect to the parties' intentions as determined by the contract language.” Schulmeyer v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 353 S.C. 491, 495, 579 S.E.2d 132, 134 (2003). “When a contract is unambiguous, clear, and explicit, it must be construed according to the terms the parties have used.” B.L.G. Enters., Inc. v. First Fin. Ins. Co., 334 S.C. 529, 535, 514 S.E.2d 327, 330 (1999). “[T]erms in a contract provision must be construed using their plain, ordinary and popular meaning.” Beach Co. v. Twillman, Ltd., 351 S.C. 56, 64, 566 S.E.2d 863, 866 (Ct. App. 2002). “The judicial function of a court of law is to enforce a contract as made by the parties, and not to rewrite or to distort, under the guise of judicial construction, contracts, the terms of which are plain and unambiguous.” Hardee v. Hardee, 355 S.C. 382, 387, 585 S.E.2d 501, 503 (2003).

Article VI, Section 2 provides:

“The Developer or Board of Directors, When Empowered, shall once each year create a budget and fix the date of commencement, the size and number of installments, the method of determining the amount of all Regular Assessments against each Owner of a Lot, and shall, at that time, prepare a roster of the Owners and the Assessments applicable thereto.”

Pursuant to the Declaration, the due date for each assessment is the date set by the Board of Directors. While Appellant argued that she was not aware of the due dates for the various assessments, she provided no evidence that the Association failed to set a due date, thus failing to trigger the right to charge interest on those assessments.

Conversely, Respondent's affidavits establish that each assessment had a due date and Appellant was notified of those dates. In December 2010 Respondent notified Appellant that the 2011 Annual Assessment of \$150.00 was due January 15, 2011. (R. p. 110.) Respondent notified of each non-compliance assessment assessed at the time the assessment was levied. (R. pp. 110-111.) The Declaration provides the mechanism by which the "due date" is established for assessments. The Declaration further provides that interest "shall bear interest from the due date." Appellant has presented no evidence that Respondent charged interest from any date other than the "due date" as established by the Declaration. Accordingly, the trial court correctly granted summary judgment on Appellant's counterclaim for breach of contract.

**B. Because Appellant Failed To Establish That Respondent Breached Any Contract And Because Appellant Further Failed To Demonstrate Any Fraudulent Intent or Act By Respondent, The Trial Court Correctly Granted Summary Judgment On Respondent's Claim For Breach Of Contract With Fraudulent Intent.**

In order to prevail on a claim for breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act, a claimant must prove: (a) a breach of contract (b) fraudulent intent relating to the contract's breach (not merely its making) (c) a fraudulent act accompanying the breach. Floyd v. Country Squire Mobile Homes, Inc., 287 S.C. 51, 336 S.E. 2d 502 (Ct. App. 1985). A fraudulent act is broadly defined as "any act characterized by dishonesty in fact or unfair dealing." Ro Tec Servs., Inc. v. Encompass Servs., Inc., 359 S.C. 467, 472, 597 S.E.2d 881, 883 (Ct. App. 2004).

As with the breach of contract claim, this cause of action fails as Appellant has not put forth the predicate allegations to raise genuine issues of material fact relating as to whether a contract was actually breached. Appellant has similarly failed show any scintilla of evidence that Respondent had fraudulent intent or acted fraudulently related to charging interest. At best Appellant argues that she did not know that various charges had been levied. Appellant's affidavit fails to allege that Respondent failed to establish due dates for the assessments or mail notice to Respondent. She merely avers that she did not know about the charges. Respondent's ignorance of the status of her account does not constitute even a scintilla of evidence of fraud on the part of Respondent.

**III. The Trial Court Correctly Granted Summary Judgment Against Appellant's Claim For Slander Of Title Because Respondent's Lien Was Accurate At The Time It Was Executed And Because Appellant Failed To Demonstrate Respondent Acted With Malice.**

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